
City of Keene Planning Board 

AGENDA 

Monday, November 22, 2021 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
Note: The public may join the meeting online or at City Hall in the 2nd Floor Council Chambers. To access the meeting 

online, visit www.zoom.us/join or call (646) 558-8656 and enter the Meeting ID: 857 8338 6440.* 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 25, 2021

III. Public Hearing

SPR-16-14, Modification 7 – Site Plan Review – Mint Carwash Site Modifications, 433 & 435 Winchester
St – Applicant and owner MOC76 Realty Co. LLC proposes to modify the Mint Carwash site located at 435
Winchester St (TMP #115-029-00), 433 Winchester St (TMP #115-030-000), and 0 Wetmore St (TMP #115-
031-000) by reconfiguring the parking and reducing the width of the Wetmore St curb cut for the former Ocean
Harvest Restaurant. A waiver is requested from Sec. 20.14.3.D of the Land Use Code to allow for parking with
vacuum stations in front of the building. These combined parcels are 1.33 acres in size and are located in the
Industrial, Commerce, and High Density Districts.

SPR-897, Modification 1 & SWP-CUP-04-21 – Site Plan Review & Surface Water Protection Conditional 
Use Permit – U-Haul of South Keene – Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner Amerco 
Real Estate Company, proposes to renovate two existing buildings, construct a 12,175 sf building, and install 
28,900 sf of prefabricated storage units on the properties located at 472 Winchester St (TMP #115-020-00) and 
0 Krif Rd (115-019-000). A Conditional Use Permit is requested to install pavement within the Surface Water 
Protection buffer. An exception to the City’s Street Access standards is requested to increase the width of an 
existing street access to be 45 ft at the property line and 66 ft at the curbline. These combined properties are 
7.51 acres in size and are located in the Commerce Limited District. 

SPR-972, Modification 7 – Site Plan Review – Colony Mill Landscaping, 210-222 West Street – Applicant 
and owner Brady Sullivan Keene Properties LLC proposes to modify the landscaping for the new retail building 
on the property located at 210-222 West St (TMP# 576-009-000), including the removal of existing trees along 
Island St. The site is 6.49 acres and is located in the Commerce District. 

IV. Community Development Director Report

V. New Business

VI. Upcoming Dates of Interest – December 2021
 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – December 13, 6:30 PM
 Planning Board Steering Committee –  December 7, 11:00 AM
 Planning Board Site Visit – December 15, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed
 Planning Board Meeting – December 20, 6:30 PM

*A Zoom link and call in information is being provided as a public service; however, the public body will be meeting in person with a quorum
present at the location, date and time contained in this notice. If for some reason the Zoom link or call in does not work, the public meeting will
continue in person.

http://www.zoom.us/join


City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

3 
4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

7 
Monday, October 25, 2021 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 

City Hall 8 
Members Present: 
David Orgaz, Vice Chair  
Mayor George S. Hansel 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Andrew Weglinski 
Harold Farrington, Alternate 

Members Not Present: 
Pamela Russell Slack, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni 
Emily Lavigne-Bernier 
Gail Somers 

Staff Present: 
Rhett Lamb, Community Development 
Director/Assistant City Manager 
Tara Kessler, Senior Planner 

  Tammy Adams, Alternate 9 

10 
I) Call to Order – Roll Call11 

12 
Vice-Chair Orgaz called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. 13 

14 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – September 27, 202115 

16 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to approve the September 27, 2021 meeting 17 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved. 18 

19 
III) Public Hearing20 

SWP-CUP-03-21 – Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit – W110 Distribution 21 
Line Pole Replacement– Applicant GZA GeoEnvironmental, on behalf of owner Public Service 22 
Company of New Hampshire (dba Eversource Energy), proposes to replace 2 existing wood 23 
utility structures along the W110 Distribution Line with 2 new steel structures. This project will 24 
temporarily impact 4,764 sf of the Surface Water Protection Buffer for work pad placement and 25 
the creation/improvement of access roads. 26 

27 
A. Board Determination of Completeness28 
Senior Planner Tara Kessler recommended accepting this application as complete.29 

30 

Page 2 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 2 of 8 

A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to recommend that the Board accept application 31 
SWP-CUP-03-21 as complete. The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was 32 
unanimously approved. 33 

34 
B. Public Hearing35 
Lindsey White of GZA GeoEnvironmental addressed the Board first. Ms. White stated that36 
Eversource was proposing to replace poles 178 and 179 on the W110 Distribution Line with two37 
new steel structures. The W110 Distribution Line is located off Chesterfield Road near the town38 
line between Keene and Chesterfield. During inspection, it was determined that these poles had39 
defects and needed to be replaced to maintain safety and reliability. Ms. White explained that40 
these changes will have an impact on the Surface Water Protection Overlay District; however,41 
there is the need to access the poles and to construct a work pad around the poles to stage42 
equipment.43 

44 
Ms. White referred to the orange hatched area on the plan, which delineates areas of impact 45 
within the surface water buffer, and the yellow hatched area, which shows areas of wetland 46 
impacts from the proposed work. Timber matting will be placed in the impacted wetlands. Once 47 
the work is completed, the area will be seeded and mulched. The upland buffer area will also be 48 
restored to prior conditions by seeding and mulching the affected areas. This item was raised at 49 
the Conservation Commission meeting, where it was suggested a pollinator friendly seed mix be 50 
used. The applicant is in agreement with this suggestion. Ms. White stated that they have 51 
submitted an NHDES Wetlands Application, which was approved. This concluded the 52 
applicant’s presentation. 53 

54 
Mr. Weglinski asked for the duration of the activity. Ashley Ruprecht from Eversource stated 55 
that the work should last about three days and explained that the restoration of the site will 56 
happen in the spring.  57 

58 
Mr. Farrington asked when Eversource thinks this area will need to be disturbed again in the 59 
future to replace additional poles or lines. Ms. Ruprecht stated they don’t have any future plans 60 
at this time to revisit this area or to increase capacity.  61 

62 
Staff comments were next. Senior Planner Tara Kessler addressed the committee and noted that 63 
the applicant has addressed the Conditional Use Permit criteria fairly well. She noted the 64 
suggestion from the Conservation Commission regarding the use of a pollinator-friendly seed 65 
mix for remediation and confirmed that they had received the list from Ms. White 66 

67 
The Chairman asked for public comment next. With no comments from the public, the Chairman 68 
closed the public hearing. 69 

70 
C. Board Discussion and Action71 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to approve Conditional Use Permit SWP-CUP-03-72 
21 as shown on the plan set identified as “W110 Distribution Line Structure Replacement73 
Project, Keene New Hampshire” prepared by GZA GeoEnvironmental Inc. at varying scales and74 
dated September 9, 2021, with the following conditions:75 

76 

Page 3 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 3 of 8 

A. Applicant submits to the Community Development Department documentation of all77 
necessary permits and approvals from local, state and federal agencies, including but not78 
limited to:79 

i. An approved Wetlands Permit from the NH Department of Environmental80 
Services;81 
ii. Temporary driveway permits for each access point from a public right of-way82 
from the City Public Works Department;83 
iii. Excavation permits for any ground disturbance within the public right of-way;84 
and,85 
iv. Encumbrance permits for any vehicles, equipment or materials to be staged or86 
stored within the public right-of-way.87 

B. Applicant shall remediate all disturbed areas with vegetation that includes pollinator88 
friendly plant species. A list of plant species used for remediation shall be submitted to89 
the Community Development Department in advance of planting.90 

91 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved. 92 

93 
S-08-21 – 3-Lot Subdivision – 120 Stearns Rd – Applicant Michael Ploof of Fieldstone Land94 
Consultants, PLLC, on behalf of owner Megan Burke Kidder, proposes to subdivide the existing95 
76-acre parcel at 120 Stearns Rd (TMP# 236-023-000) into three lots. The proposed subdivision96 
would result in a 41.9-acre lot, a 12-acre lot, and a 22.1-acre lot, all of which would share a97 
common driveway. The site is located in the Rural District. The applicant is requesting an98 
exception from Section 22.5.4.A.5 of the City’s Street Access Standards to permit 4 dwellings to99 
share a common driveway where no more 2 dwellings are permitted to share a common100 
driveway.101 

102 
A. Board Determination of Completeness103 
Senior Planner Tara Kessler recommended accepting this application as complete.104 

105 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel to recommend that the Board accept application S-106 
08-21 as complete. The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously107 
approved.108 

109 
B. Public Hearing110 
Mr. John Noonan of Fieldstone Land Consultants addressed the Board on behalf of the owner,111 
Megan Burke Kidder. Mr. Noonan stated this applicant is looking to subdivide a 76 acre lot into112 
three lots. All three lots will have frontage along Stearns Road. Following the subdivision, the113 
parent parcel will be 41.9 acres and will have 215 ft. of frontage along Stearns Road. Proposed114 
Lot #1 will be 12 acres in size with 305 feet of frontage on Stearns Road.  Lot #2 will be 22.1115 
acres in size with 1,494 feet of frontage on Stearns Road. A total of 393 feet of this frontage will116 
be along the Class V section of Stearns Road. He explained that they are requesting an exception117 
from Section 22.5.4.A.5 of the City’s Street Access Standards, so that all 4 dwellings can utilize118 
the existing driveway that comes off Chesterfield Road to access their property. Ann easement119 
will be created to allow for access onto the lots.120 

121 

Page 4 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 4 of 8 

The existing driveway is 24 feet in width and accesses the residential lot on 361 Chesterfield 122 
Road and the parcel at 120 Stearns Road. The reason for requesting access off Chesterfield Road 123 
is due to the fact that the other section of the road is quite steep, because Grimes Brook runs 124 
parallel to Stearns Road, and because there are also jurisdictional wetlands that surround this 125 
area. The Applicant explained that allowing the shared driveway would eliminate impacts to 126 
wetlands and would allow the future homeowners to avoid steep slopes. 127 

128 
Mr. Noonan explained that a conceptual driveway plan and profile have been submitted. The 129 
house for Lot #1 is in the process of being designed. There is no buyer for Lot #2 as of yet. The 130 
proposed plans show a potential house and driveway location on Lot #2; however, the house 131 
could be relocated. The plans for both homes show a 4,000 square foot area with test pit 132 
information, along with a 75 foot well radius.  133 

134 
He further stated to provide access to all four proposed houses, there will be a hammer head 135 
turnaround for fire and emergency access. The driveway will be built to City road standards. The 136 
two extension driveways will be ten feet wide and will start at Chesterfield Road. Mr. Noonan 137 
stated that these are all conceptual plans that show that any future driveways on these properties 138 
can meet the City’s width and slope standards. He went on to say that when plans and permits 139 
are submitted for these lots, a driveway permit will also be submitted at that the same time. This 140 
concluded the presentation from Mr. Noonan.  141 

142 
Mayor Hansel clarified that the ten foot wide sections of driveway are not serving multiple 143 
houses. Mr. Noonan stated there is an area of overlap for Lot #1 and Lot #2. 144 

145 
Councilor Remy asked whether easements would be placed on each of these properties or just on 146 
the Chesterfield Street property. Mr. Noonan stated Lot #2 would end up with an easement on 147 
Lot #1, as well as on the lot located at 120 Stearns Road (TMP# 236-023-000). He referred to the 148 
two adjoining lots owned by Megan Burke Kidder at 120 Stearns Road and 361 Chesterfield 149 
Road, which don’t have an easement; however, the two lots being created would need an 150 
easement allowing them to access their residences through her lot.  151 

152 
Mr. Weglinski asked whether any portion of this land is maintained by the City. Mr. Noonan 153 
answered in the negative. It will be a private driveway servicing four lots.  154 

155 
Councilor Remy asked if there was a way to access each property from Stearns Road, if this is 156 
not approved for a driveway permit. Mr. Noonan stated it could be done with a wetland permit 157 
for Lot #1 and a bridge construction.  158 

159 
Staff comments were next. 160 

161 
Ms. Kessler stated that the subdivision standards she would like to focus on are traffic and access 162 
management. Ms. Kessler noted that the parcel proposed to be subdivided has a common 163 
driveway that comes off Chesterfield Road and serves a single family home off Chesterfield 164 
Road and the home at 120 Stearns Road. The applicant is requesting a waiver from the City’s 165 
Public Improvement Standards, specifically the Street Access Standards, which specify that only  166 
two dwellings can  share a common driveway. This proposal is to allow four dwellings to share a 167 

Page 5 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 5 of 8 

common driveway. She explained that the existing driveway is long and does meet the long 168 
driveway definition in that it exceeds 300 feet; however, it does not meet all other long driveway 169 
requirements outlined in our current code.  170 

171 
Ms. Kessler explained that the City Engineer has reviewed the application and is not requiring 172 
anything be done to the existing portion of the driveway to bring it up to current standards; 173 
however, any new sections added to the existing driveway will need to meet the requirements of 174 
the long driveway standard. She explained that the new sections of the driveway can be no more 175 
than 10 feet wide and that there need to be turnarounds for emergency vehicles. The City 176 
Engineer also noted that if the exception is granted, new Chesterfield Road addresses will need 177 
to be issued for the two new lots. Ms. Kessler noted that a new driveway concept plan would also 178 
need to be submitted and should show that the new sections of driveway are 10 feet wide or 179 
smaller in width. She explained that when a driveway permit is submitted, an easement stating 180 
that the four properties can utilize a common driveway will also need to be submitted. 181 

182 
Ms. Kessler called the Board’s attention to the driveway exception criteria included in the 183 
Board’s packet, which are as follows:   184 
A. Issuance of the exception will not adversely affect the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists, and185 
vehicles using adjacent streets and intersections.186 
B. Issuance of the exception does not adversely affect the efficiency and capacity of the street or187 
intersection.188 
C. There are unique characteristics of the land or property which present a physical hardship to189 
the requestor.190 
D. In no case shall financial hardship be used to justify the granting of the exception.191 

192 
Ms. Kessler noted there are significant steep slopes close to the Stearns Road portion of the 193 
property shown on the existing conditions plan, as well as some very large wetland complexes 194 
that any new driveways would have to cross to access these two new lots. She added that this is 195 
something the Board should take into consideration tonight. If the Board chooses not to grant the 196 
exception, then they will want ensure that the applicant can demonstrate there is the possibility  197 
for access to the properties from Stearns Road. Ms. Kessler explained that part of the subdivision 198 
review process is to ensure that lots are developable and that they can be accessed for future 199 
development. This concluded staff comments. 200 

201 
Mr. Farrington asked for the requirement for the construction of a City Street. Mr. Lamb stated 202 
that there is no specific road standard, what exists here is a Class V street on Stearns Road. Even 203 
though it is not going to be used for their actual driveway, the subdivision will create adequate 204 
frontage on an existing street. In this case, two new lots are being created on an existing Class V 205 
street. He explained that the applicant has to demonstrate access to the lots from Stearns Road; 206 
however, they do not necessarily have to utilize that frontage to access the parcels and can use 207 
another way to access the lots. 208 

209 
He went on to say this applicant wants to construct two homes on the hill near the existing 210 
residence; however, if they decided not to construct the homes in this location, we would need to 211 
know if they could build two homes closer to the Stearns Road frontage without the need to cross 212 
wetlands and the stream. Mr. Noonan stated that there is room, but there is the issue with the 213 

Page 6 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 6 of 8 

wetlands and setbacks. He explained that in that scenario, they would most likely utilize the 214 
existing driveway as a shared driveway that would allow for access to Lot #1. Mr. Lamb stated 215 
that, in his opinion, this demonstrates that there is adequate road frontage for the two new lots on 216 
Stearns Road and that the applicant can choose to gain access to the properties from a different 217 
access point. 218 

219 
The Vice-Chair then asked for public comment. 220 

221 
Ms. Megan Burke Kidder addressed the Board. Ms. Burke Kidder stated that what they refer to 222 
as the “old driveway” can be treacherous at times and is not safe to drive on during the winter. 223 
Ms. Burke Kidder noted she is not planning on selling any of these lots –  they are going to be 224 
kept in the family. She noted that the house that is going to be built on Lot #1 will be handicap 225 
accessible. She further explained that a small cabin will be built on Lot #2 for use by her family. 226 

227 
Mr. Gary Johnson of 132 Arch Street was the next speaker. Mr. Johnson stated his father owns 228 
the abutting property and felt that using the existing driveway would be better than using Stearns 229 
Road to access this property. He explained that the existing driveway is wider and straighter than 230 
Stearns Road. He felt that using the existing driveway would reduce traffic congestion. 231 

232 
Ms. Burke Kidder noted that there are several other properties with shared driveways that allow 233 
access to more than two homes.  She stated that there is a property at the beginning of Stearns 234 
Road that utilizes a shared private driveway to access three properties. Mr. Lamb confirmed what 235 
the applicant stated, but noted that this is not a common practice in the City, even though there 236 
are some other instances where such driveways exist. 237 

238 
With no further public comment, the Vice-Chair closed the public hearing. 239 

240 
C. Board Discussion and Action241 
Mayor Hansel stated felt this subdivision seems straightforward and noted that they have the242 
street frontage as required by Code. He also stated that they meet the criteria to grant the243 
exception. Councilor Remy echoed the Mayor’s comments and added he is also happy there is244 
buildable space next to Stearns Road, in the circumstance that it is needed in the future.245 

246 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Planning Board approve the request for an 247 
exemption from Section 22.5.4.A.5 of the Land Development Code to permit a common street 248 
access to serve 4 dwellings, and to approve S-08-21 for a 3-lot subdivision of the parcel located 249 
at 120 Stearns Rd (TMP# 236-023-000), as shown on the plans identified as “Subdivision Plan – 250 
South” and “Subdivision Plan – North” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC at a 251 
scale of 1” = 100’, dated September 16, 2021 and last revised on October 8, 2021 with the 252 
following conditions: 253 

1. Prior to signature by Planning Board Chair:254 
A. Owner’s signature appear on plan.255 
B. Submission of a revised driveway concept plan showing the portion of new driveway256 
to be no wider than 10-feet.257 

2. Prior to installation of new driveways:258 
A. Approval from the City Engineer for a street Access Permit.259 

Page 7 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 7 of 8 

B. Submission of a recorded driveway easement for the four properties sharing the260 
common street access, which should include a description of the responsibilities for261 
ongoing maintenance and dispute resolution of the driveway.262 

263 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 264 

265 
IV) Community Development Director Report266 

267 
Minor Project Review 268 
Ms. Kessler addressed the Committee and noted that the Minor Project Review Committee is 269 
an administrative item. She indicated in August, the Board appointed members to this 270 
committee. However, with the upcoming staff changes, there is a new roster to make sure the 271 
committee is properly staffed. Ms. Kessler stated this is her last meeting with the City of 272 
Keene, as she is resigning in the next few weeks. At this time, there is no one assigned to 273 
replace her on the committee, but someone should be appointed soon. Ms. Kessler noted that 274 
with the Community Development Director’s upcoming retirement, Mari Brunner is set to 275 
replace him as Chair of the committee. 276 

277 
Mayor Hansel expressed his appreciation to both Ms. Kessler and Mr. Lamb for all they’ve 278 
done for the City.  279 

280 
A motion was made Mayor George Hansel that the following individuals serve as regular and 281 
alternate members of the Minor Project Review Committee. 282 

283 
John Rogers – Building Health Official; Mari Brunner, Planner; Don Lussier, City Engineer; 284 
Lt. John Bates, Fire Prevention Officer; Med Kopczynski, Economic Development Director. 285 
Alternates: Michael Hagan, Plans Examiner; Kurt Blomquist, Public Works Director. 286 

287 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Michael Remy and was unanimously approved. 288 

289 
Mr. Lamb expressed his appreciation working for the City for the past 26 years. Mr. Lamb 290 
recognized Ms. Kessler for everything she has done for the city and the department.  291 

292 
V) New Business293 

None294 

VI) Upcoming Dates of Interest – November 2021295 
 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – November 8, 6:30 PM296 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – November 9, 11:00 AM297 
 Planning Board Site Visit – November 17, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed298 
 Planning Board Meeting – November 22, 6:30 PM299 

300 
There being no further business, the Vice-Chair adjourned the meeting at 7:20 PM. 301 

302 
Respectfully submitted by, 303 

Page 8 of 89



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 25, 2021 

Page 8 of 8 

Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 304 
305 

Reviewed and edited by, 306 
Megan Fortson, Planning Technician 307 

Page 9 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

SPR-16-14, MODIFICATION #7 –– SITE PLAN REVIEW – MINT CARWASH – 433 & 435 
WINCHESTER STREET 

Request: 
Applicant and owner MOC76 Realty Co. LLC proposes to modify the Mint Carwash site located 
at 435 Winchester St (TMP #115-029-00), 433 Winchester St (TMP #115-030-000), and 0 
Wetmore St (TMP #115-031-000) by reconfiguring the parking and reducing the width of the 
Wetmore St curb cut for the former Ocean Harvest Restaurant. A waiver is requested from Sec. 
20.14.3.D of the Land Use Code to allow for parking with vacuum stations in front of the building. 
These combined parcels are 1.33 acres in size and are located in the Industrial, Commerce, and 
High Density Districts. 

Background: 
The 435 Winchester Street property is the 
site of Mint Carwash, a two-bay drive-in 
carwash facility with street access on both 
Winchester Street and Wetmore Street. It is 
0.99 acres and is located in the Industrial 
District. This property received a variance 
from the Zoning Board of Adjustment to 
allow for a carwash facility in the Industrial 
District in August 2014, and site plan 
approval from the Planning Board in 
October 2014. As part of the site plan 
approval, the Planning Board granted a 
waiver to allow for four parking spaces with 
vacuum stations in front of the building.  

The property located at 433 Winchester 
Street is the former location of the Ocean 
Harvest Restaurant. It is 0.22 acres in size 
and is located in the Commerce District. 
The property directly to the west, 0 
Wetmore Street, is the location of a section 
of the parking lot for the former restaurant. 
This property is 0.12 acres in size and is 
located in the High Density District.  

The owner of the 435 Winchester Street 
property purchased the properties located 
at 433 Winchester Street and 0 Wetmore 
Street (former Ocean Harvest Restaurant 
site) with the intention of constructing a 
second carwash tunnel; however, this 
application was withdrawn after the ZBA 
denied a request for a variance to allow a carwash tunnel to be partially located within the High 
Density District.  

All three of these properties are located within the 100-year floodplain. Surrounding land uses on 
Winchester Street are mostly commercial or industrial; however, there are adjacent residential 

Figure 1. Image of the Mint Carwash building located at 435 
Winchester Street. 

Figure 2. Image of the former Ocean Harvest Restaurant as 
viewed from Winchester Street.

Page 10 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

uses along Wetmore Street directly to the west. Combined, these properties are 1.33 acres in 
size. 
 
The Ocean Harvest Restaurant has been demolished. The Applicant proposes to use the former 
restaurant parking lot for employee parking for the Mint Carwash site, narrow the Wetmore Street 
access point for the former Ocean Harvest Restaurant from approximately 100 ft to 40 ft, move 
the existing vacuum stations and associated parking spaces from their current location directly in 
front of the carwash building to the new parking area on the corner of Winchester and Wetmore 
Street, and install one additional parking space along Winchester Street. Landscaping is proposed 
along Winchester Street to screen these parking spaces from view. A waiver is requested from 
Section 20.14.3, subsection D to allow for parking in front of the building. 
 
Completeness: 
The Applicant requests exemptions from providing a traffic report, drainage report, soils report, 
and architectural elevations. Staff recommend that the Board grant the requested exemptions and 
accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 

 Code Enforcement: Please be aware that a Floodplain Development Permit will be 
required.  

 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application.  
 
20.2 Drainage and Stormwater Management: The Applicant has requested an exemption from 

providing a Drainage Report, noting that the total impervious cover on the site is being 
reduced from 28,609 sf to 26,599 sf. The Applicant proposes to remove the western 
section of the parking lot for the former Ocean Harvest Restaurant and create a 
compensatory storage area in this location to offset the filling of the former restaurant 
basement within the 100-year floodplain. In addition, the Applicant proposes to install an 
infiltration basin along Winchester Street on the east side of the site. No other changes to 
the existing drainage pattern are proposed. This standard appears to be met. 

 
20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The Applicant proposes to install silt fencing along the 

perimeter of areas to be disturbed as shown on the Grading and Erosion Control Plan 
(Sheet C3). In addition, the Grading and Erosion Control Plan identifies various erosion 
and sediment control measures that will be followed during construction, including 
measures to stabilize any disturbed areas during winter construction (see “Erosion Control 
Sequence” and “Winter Construction Notes” on plan). This standard appears to be met.  

 
20.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Proposed snow storage areas are shown on the site plan in 

several locations, including to the west and south of the carwash tunnel queuing area, the 
northwest side of the Wetmore Street driveway, and in the compensatory storage area 
located to the west of the parking lot. In the project narrative, the Applicant states that any 
excess snow will be hauled off site if necessary. Staff recommend that the removal of 
snow storage from the compensatory flood storage areas be a condition of approval, and 
that a note be added to the plan which states that the owner is responsible for hauling any 
excess snow off site.  

 

Page 11 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.5  Landscaping: The applicant 
proposes to screen the parking and 
vacuum stations from Winchester 
Street with 15 shrubs, including 12 
Casino gold juniper plants (mature 
height 3 ft) and three RP purple 
pavement rose plants (mature 
height 2.5 ft.). In addition, one 
Snow drift flowering crabapple tree 
is proposed near the corner of 
Winchester and Wetmore Street.  
 
Section 9.4.4 of the Land 
Development Code, Parking Lot 
Screening, states “If an on-site 
parking lot is visible from the public 
right-ofway and/or is located 
adjacent to a residential zoning 
district, a perimeter landscape area 
shall be established along the full 
length of the edge(s) of the parking 
lot that is adjacent to the public right(s)-of-way and to parcels located in a residential 
zoning district, with the exception of areas designed for pedestrian and vehicular access 
into the parking lot.” This section further states that “A minimum of 1 shade tree shall be 
provided for every 30 lf of perimenter parking lot landscape area.” The Planning Board 
may approve an alternatative design for screening if the proposed design generally meets 
the intent of the parking lot screening standards.   
 
The Board may wish to consider asking the Applicant to install shade trees or additional 
ornamental trees/shrubs to screen the new parking area from adjacent public rights-of-
way, including Wetmore Street.  
 

20.6  Screening: The proposed screening for the new section of the parking lot is described 
above under Landscaping. In addition, the Applicant proposes to relocate dumpster from 
the northwest corner of the 435 Winchester Street parcel to the northwest corner of the 
parking lot. This dumpster will be screened from view with a six foot tall vinyl fence, as 
shown in the detail provided on the Proposed Site Plan (Sheet C-2).  

 
20.7 Lighting: The Applicant proposes to install two 15 ft pole-mounted lights to provide lighting 

for the parking lot. The proposed light fixtures are full cut-off LED lights, and the 
photometric plan shows that the light levels are consistent with the Planning Board’s 
standards for lighting. No other changes to site lighting are proposed. This standard 
appears to be met.  

 
20.8 Sewer & Water: No changes to sewer or water are proposed as part of this project. This 

standard does not apply. 
 
20.9 Traffic & Access Management: The current proposal to use the former Ocean Harvest 

Restaurant property for parking is not expected to result in an increase in traffic generation 
as compared to the previous use, which was a 50-seat restaurant.  
 

Figure 3. Google street view image of the former Ocean 
Harvest Restaurant, as viewed from Wetmore Street looking 
south. This area of the site has been paved over and the 
Applicant proposes to use it for parking spaces with vacuum 
stations. 

Page 12 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

Once merged, this site will have three curb cuts, including one on Winchester Street and 
two on Wetmore Street. The Applicant proposes to narrow the Wetmore Street curb cut 
for the former Ocean Harvest Restaurant from approximately 100 ft to 40 ft, which would 
bring this street access closer to compliance with the City’s standard for commercial 
driveway widths, which is 25 ft at the property line and 50 ft at the curbline. In addition, the 
Applicant proposes to move the vacuum stations and associated parking spaces from in 
front of the carwash building to the new parking lot, which would reduce conflicts between 
vehicles exiting the carwash and vehicles backing out of the vacuum station parking 
spaces. There are no sidewalks or bicycle lanes on this section of Winchester Street or 
Wetmore Street. This standard appears to be met. 

20.10 Filling & Excavation: All three properties that are the subject of this proposal are located 
within the 100-year floodplain. The Applicant is aware that a Floodplain Development 
Permit will need to be obtained for the proposed work, and proposes to create a 
compensatory flood storage area in order to offset the filling of the former restaurant 
basement. This standard appears to be met.  

20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: There are no surface waters or wetlands present on this site; 
this standard does not apply. 

20.12 Hazardous or Toxic Materials: There are no known hazardous or toxic materials on the 
site. This standard does not apply. 

20.13 Noise: The Applicant proposes to relocate the vacuum stations and associated parking 
spaces at the east end of the new parking area, which is the furthest point from the 
adjacent residential property. No other changes to site are proposed that would impact 
noise levels. This standard appears to be met. 

20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The Applicant requests a waiver from subsection 3.D 
of this standard to allow parking spaces to be located in front of the building. The waiver 
request is included as an attachement to this staff report. 

In making a determination whether to grant the requested waiver, the Board should find 
that the waiver criteria listed in Section 25.12.14 of the LDC are met: 

“1.  Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver 
would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or, 

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site
plan, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the
regulations.

3. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is reasonable
and necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being waived will be
preserved, and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts associated with granting
the waiver will occur.”

Page 13 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

Recommended Motion: 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for a 
motion: 

Grant a waiver from Section 20.14.3.D of the Land Development Code to allow for five 
parking spaces with vacuum stations in front of the building; and  

Approve SPR-16-14 Modification #7 for modifications to the Wetmore Street curb cut and 
site, as presented in the plan set identified as “Proposed Two Bay Car Wash, 435 
Winchester St. Keene, NH” prepared by Brickstone Land Use Consultants at a scale of 1 
inch = 20 feet on September 19, 2014 and last revised on October 29, 2021 with the 
following conditions prior to signature by Planning Board Chair: 

1. Submittal of revised plans to show the following:
A. Removal of snow storage from compensatory flood storage areas.
B. Addition of a note on the site plan which states that the owner is responsible

for removing any excess snow from the site.
2. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.

Page 14 of 89



Page 15 of 89



Page 16 of 89



Page 17 of 89



Page 18 of 89



Page 19 of 89



Page 20 of 89



Page 21 of 89



Page 22 of 89



Page 23 of 89



Page 24 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

SPR-897, MODIFICATION #1 –– SITE PLAN REVIEW & SWP-CUP-2021-04 – 
SURFACE WATER PROTECTION CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT REVIEW – U-HAUL 

OF SOUTH KEENE – 472 WINCHESTER STREET & 0 KRIF ROAD 

Request: 
Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner Amerco Real Estate Company, 
proposes to renovate two existing buildings, construct a 12,175 sf building, and install 
28,900 sf of prefabricated storage units on the properties located at 472 Winchester St 
(TMP #115-020-00) and 0 Krif Rd (115-019-000). A Conditional Use Permit is requested to 
install pavement within the Surface Water Protection buffer. An exception to the City’s 
Street Access standards is requested to increase the width of an existing curb cut to be 45 
ft at the property line and 66 ft at the curbline. These combined properties are 7.51 acres 
in size and are located in the Commerce Limited District. 

Background: 
The 472 Winchester Street property 
is the site of the former Clark 
Distributors complex, located on the 
southeast corner of Winchester 
Street and Krif Road. This property 
is 4.03 acres in size and has four 
existing access points, including 
one on Winchester Street and three 
on Krif Road. The adjacent 0 Krif 
Road property is 3.48 acres and is 
located to the south and east of the 
472 Winchester Street property. 
This parcel is currently 
undeveloped and has 50 feet of 
frontage on Krif Road. Both parcels 
abut Ash Swamp Brook and are located in the Commerce Limited District. 

The Applicant proposes to merge these two parcels and develop the site for use as a U-
Haul truck rental business and self-storage facility. A Conditional Use Permit is requested 
to allow the construction of a paved drive aisle within the 30-foot Surface Water Protection 
buffer. Per Section 11.6.3.A of the LDC, the CUP Application has been referred to the 
Conservation Commission and will be reviewed at their meeting on November 15. Staff will 
share any recommendations from the Conservation Commission at the Planning Board 
meeting. 

In addition, the Applicant requests an Exception from Section 22.5.4.9 of the City’s Street 
Access Standards in order to widen the easternmost curb cut on Krif Road to 45 ft at the 
property line and 66 ft at the curbline. 

Completeness: 
The Applicant requests an exemption from providing a Traffic Report. Staff recommend 
that the Board grant the requested exemption and accept the application as “Complete.” 

Figure 1. Street view imagery from November 2019 of the former Clark 
Distributors building located at 472 Winchester Street. 

Page 25 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

Departmental Comments: 
Included below are questions and comments from City staff on this application. 
Engineering: 

1. *Please provide traffic generation estimates based on the most recent version of
the ITE Trip Generation Manual.
*Note: The Applicant has stated that traffic generation estimates will be provided at
the Planning Board meeting.

2. Excessive curb cuts and access management on Winchester St. is an ongoing
concern. Per Section 20.9.2 of the Land Development Code, “The use of common
driveways and service roads is encouraged”.  The existing and proposed conditions
include four separate curb cuts for this site.  Engineering Division recommends that,
at a minimum, the curb cut directly onto Winchester Street be closed as a condition
of approval.

3. **The Property Owner should be informed that the City is planning a major
reconstruction of Lower Winchester Street beginning in 2025.  As part of that
project, the City will be replacing the existing bridge over Ash Swamp Brook,
widening the roadway, constructing sidewalks and other improvements.  Although
no design decisions have been made, it is possible that the City will require
additional right-of-way width to accommodate the new bridge and project
features.  This could potentially include temporary access rights to install a
temporary bridge on the applicant’s property during construction.
**Note: Engineering staff met with the Applicant on October 29 to discuss the lower
Winchester Street reconstruction project, including potential future impacts to this
property. The owner has been made aware of these potential impacts.

Code Enforcement/Zoning: 
1. Please be aware that a Floodplain Development Permit will be required for this

project.
2. Please show where U-Haul trucks will be parked on the site.

Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development 
standards relevant to this application.  

20.2 Drainage and Stormwater Management: The proposed development would result 
in an increase in impervious surface on the site from 2.178 acres to 4.957 acres. In 
order to mitigate the increase in impervious area, the Applicant proposes to install 
a series of catch basins in the new paved areas that will be connected by a sub-
surface perforated pipe and stone system. Half of the roof drains from the new 
warehouse building will tie into this system, while the other half will tie into the 
existing drainage system that connects to Krif Road, which will remain in place to 
handle runoff from the existing buildings and parking lot. The proposed catch basins 
will have hooded outlets to prevent contamination of discharge, and the 24-inch 
perforated pipe and stone system is designed to infiltrate water into the ground. 
Overflow from the new stormwater management system will be directed to a flood 
compensation basin at the south end of the site. This flood compensation basin is 
located partially within the floodway, and entirely within the 100-year floodplain. 

Page 26 of 89



STAFF REPORT 

The Applicant submitted a Storm Water Management Report, which concludes that 
there will be no increase in the peak flow of runoff from the site as a result of the 
proposed development. A summary of the storm water report is attached to this 
staff report. This standard appears to be met. 

20.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: Proposed sedimentation and erosion control 
measures during construction include silt fencing along the perimeter of the area to 
be disturbed, silt socks around all catch basins, stabilized construction entrances to 
the site to prevent tracking of sediment onto the public right-of-way, and stabilization 
fabric on slopes that are 2:1 or steeper. Post-construction, all disturbed non-paved 
areas will be stabilized, loamed, and seeded immediately following construction, 
and rip-rap stone aprons will be installed at the outfall of the overflow pipes from 
the subsurface drainage system. This standard appears to be met. 

20.4 Snow Storage & Removal: Proposed snow storage areas are shown on the site 
plan at the southern end of the paved area. This snow storage area is about 5 ft 
wide, and is located at the edge of the compensatory storage basin. In the project 
narrative, the Applicant states that any excess snow will be hauled off site if 
necessary. Due to the limited snow storage area on the site (relative to the area 
that would need to be cleared), staff recommend that a condition of approval be 
added to require off-site snow removal for any excess snow. 

20.5 Landscaping: The applicant proposes to plant five red maple trees in the rear and 
side of the site in order to meet the requirement to provide 1 tree for every 10 
parking spaces, of which there are 42. The location of these trees is shown in Figure 
2, below. No trees are proposed along Winchester Street where new pavement is 
proposed for the circulation driveway and display area. The Applicant noted during 
a conversation with staff that the owner would prefer not to plant trees along 
Winchester Street in order to keep a clear view of display area, which runs the full 
length of the Winchester Street frontage. The display area will be used to display 
U-Haul trucks and UBox storage units when they are not in use.

20.6 Screening: The Applicant proposes to locate the dumpster to the south of the 
existing building and screen it with a six foot tall vinyl fence (see detail on sheet DT-
3 of the plan set). In response to staff comments, the Applicant stated that the HVAC 

Figure 2. Image of 
the proposed 
Landscaping Plan 
with the location of 
the Red maple 
trees circled in 
red. 

Page 27 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

systems for the new building have not been designed yet; however, any HVAC 
equipment will be located in the corridor between the existing buildings. Any new 
mechanical equipment for the existing buildings will be located either in this same 
corridor or on the roof, out of sight from the public right-of-way.  

  
 Sub-section E of this standard (“Parking Lots”) states that “Parking lots shall be 

designed and screened in accordance with Article 9 of this LDC.” Although the 
Applicant has stated that they would prefer not to screen the new paved area in 
front of the building from Winchester Street due to the proposed display area, the 
Board may wish to consider whether some amount of screening along Winchester 
Street would be appropriate for this site.  

  
20.7 Lighting: The Applicant proposes to illuminate the new parking area and circulation 

lanes using building-mounted LED lights, as shown on the Lighting Plan (Sheet LT-
1). There will be eight wall pack lights mounted on the south side of the existing 
building and the south and east sides of the proposed new building at a height of 
15 ft. A different style of LED wall pack lights (29 total) will be mounted to the sides 
of the prefabricated self-storage buildings at a height of 8 ft, and will be put on 
motion sensors to turn on only when there is activity. The only changes proposed 
to the lighting for the existing parking area is the removal of one pole-mounted light 
in the northwest corner of the paved area and the removal of the flagpole and flag 
light. The existing wall pack lights on the north and west sides of the existing 
building will remain, along with the bollard lights at the northwest corner of the 
building near the entrance facing Winchester Street.  

 
 According to the photometric plan submitted with the application, the average light 

levels for the new parking area will be 1.20 footcandles (fc), the minimum 
illumination will be 0.3 fc, and the uniformity ratio will be 4:1. In addition, the “Design 
Notes” section of the Lighting Plan states that all proposed lighting will have a color 
rendering index of 70 or greater, and all lighting must be 3500 Kelvin color-
temperature. This standard appears to be met. 

 
20.8 Sewer & Water: No changes are proposed to the sewer and water access for the 

existing buildings. The new building, which is proposed to be used as a warehouse, 
will connect to the existing water line on Krif Road. A water hydrant is proposed to 
be moved at the northeast entrance to the site to accommodate a wider curb cut.  

  
 Other utilities on the site include two 1,000 gallon above ground propane tanks, 

which are proposed to be located to the rear of the existing building adjacent to the 
dumpster. This standard appears to be met. 

 
20.9 Traffic & Access Management: With respect to traffic generation, staff have 

requested traffic generation estimates based on the most recent version of the ITE 
Trip Generation Manual to demonstrate that there will be no increase in traffic as 
compared to the previous use, which was a bevereage distribution company (Clarke 
Distributors). At the time of this staff report, this information had not been provided; 
however, the Applicant indicated that this information would be brought to the 
Planning Board meeting.  

 
 Subsection 2.B of this standard states “Wherever possible, the number of curbcuts 

or driveways on public streets shall be limited to one per lot.” City Engineering staff 

Page 28 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

have noted that the high number of curbcuts and access management is an ongoing 
concern for Winchester Street, and recommend that the existing curb cut on 
Winchester Street be closed, which would still leave this site with three curbcuts. 
However, the Applicant has indicated that the site is designed so that people who 
are returning U-Haul rental trucks will enter from Winchester Street in order to 
access the marquee area (where rental trucks are returned).  

  
 The Applicant proposes to widen the easternmost curbcut on Krif Road to be 45 ft 

at the property line and 60 ft at the curb line. Section 22.5.4.9 of the LDC states that 
street access for uses other than single or two-family dwellings shall not be more 
than 25-ft wide at the property line and 50-ft wide at the curbline, unless additional 
width or lanes are required as the result of a traffic study and/or geometric analysis 
prepared by an NH licensed engineer. At the time of this staff report, the Applicant 
had not yet submitted a traffic report or geometric analysis to demonstrate the need 
for a wider curb cut. The Applicant has submitted a request for an exception to this 
standard, which is included as an attachment to this staff report.  
 
Per Section 22.5.6 of the LDC, the Board should use the following criteria to 
evaluate the street access exception request: 

 
“A.  Issuance of the exception will not adversely affect the safety of pedestrians, 

bicyclists, and vehicles using adjacent streets and intersections.  
B.  Issuance of the exception does not adversely affect the efficiency and capacity 

of the street or intersection.  
C.  There are unique characteristics of the land or property which present a physical 

hardship to the requestor.  
D.  In no case shall financial hardship be used to justify the granting of the 

exception.” 
 
20.10 Filling & Excavation: This site is located 

entirely within the 100-year floodplain and 
partially within the floodway for Ash 
Swamp Brook, as shown in Figure 3. In 
order to offset fill from the new buildings 
and pavement, the Applicant proposes to 
install a compensatory storage area at the 
south end of the site adjacent to the 
brook. The Applicant is aware that a 
Floodplain Development Permit will be 
required for this work. 

 
20.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: This site is 

bordered by Ash Swamp Brook to the 
south and west. The Applicant requests a 
conditional use permit to install pavement 
that will encroach 25 feet into the 30-foot 
Surface Water Protection Buffer. This 
would leave a 5 foot buffer in the 
encroachment area. Included below is a 
review of the Conditional Use Permit 

Figure 3. A map of the 472 Winchester and 0 Krif Road 
properties generated using the City's online AxisGIS 
map. The Flood Map layer has been turned on to show 
the approximate location of FEMA Flood Zones. 

Page 29 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

standards for the Surface Water Protection district: 
 
 A. The proposed use and/or activity cannot be located in a manner to avoid 

encroachment into the Surface Water Protection Overlay District.  
 
The Applicant proposes to install a 24-ft wide circulation lane and a portion of the 
paved display area within the 30-ft buffer, and states that the circulation lane is 
required to provide fire truck access to all four sides of the building. Without this 
circulation lane, there would be fire truck access to three sides of the building, and 
fire trucks could access the fourth side from Winchester Street if necessary. Staff 
from the Fire Department have been asked whether this circulation lane is required 
to meet the Fire Code. In addition, the Board may wish to ask the Applicant whether 
the display area cannot be located in a manner to avoid encroachment into the 
buffer, as that area is not required for fire truck access.  
 
B. Encroachment into the buffer area has been minimized to the maximum extent 
possible, including reasonable modification of the scale or design of the proposed use.  
 
Based on staff review, the encroachment into the buffer area has not been 
minimized to the maximum extent possible given the size and location of a display 
area within the buffer, which is not necessary for the functioning of the site. The 
Board may consider asking the Applicant to reduce the encroachment into the 
buffer to only what is required for fire truck access. If the circulation lane is not 
required to meet the Fire Code, the Board may consider asking the applicant to 
remove the circulation lane entirely,  
 
C. The nature, design, siting, and scale of the proposed use and the characteristics of 
the site, including but not limited to topography, soils, vegetation, and habitat, are such 
that when taken as a whole, will avoid the potential for adverse impacts to the surface 
water resource.  
 
The Applicant proposes to install curbing to prevent surface runoff from the paved 
area from entering the brook. This runoff will be directed into the perforated pipe 
and stone infiltration system. In addition, the catch basin will have an oil/debris 
separator hood and deep sump to collect sediment/debris from entering the 
drainage system.   
 
D. The surface water buffer area shall be left in a natural state to the maximum extent 
possible. The Planning Board may establish conditions of approval regarding the 
preservation of the buffer, including the extent to which trees, saplings and ground cover 
shall be preserved.  
1.  Dead, diseased, unsafe, fallen or invasive trees, saplings, shrubs, or ground cover 

may be removed from the surface water buffer area.  
2.  Tree stumps and their root systems shall be left intact in the ground, unless removal 

is specifically approved in conjunction with a surface water protection conditional 
use permit granted by the Planning Board. The stumps and root balls of exotic, 
invasive species may be removed by hand digging and/or hand cutting.  

3.  Preservation of dead and living trees that provide dens and nesting places for 
wildlife is encouraged. Planting of native species of trees, shrubs, or ground cover 
that are beneficial to wildlife is encouraged.  

Page 30 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

4.  Where there has been disturbance or alteration of the surface water buffer during 
construction, revegetation with native species may be required by the Planning 
Board. 

 
The Applicant notes in the CUP application narrative that the only area where 
vegetation would be removed is the area proposed to be paved and graded. All 
other existing vegetation within the buffer will not be altered, and will be allowed to 
grow naturally.  
 
E. The Planning Board may consider the following to determine whether allowing the 
proposed encroachment will result in an adverse impact on the surface water resource. 
1.  The size, character, and quality of the surface water and the surface water buffer 

being encroached upon.  
2.  The location and connectivity of the surface water in relation to other surface waters 

in the surrounding watershed.  
3.  The nature of the ecological and hydrological functions served by the surface water.  
4.  The nature of the topography, slopes, soils, and vegetation in the surface water 

buffer.  
5.  The role of the surface water buffer in mitigating soil erosion, sediment and nutrient 

transport, groundwater recharge, flood storage, and flow dispersion.  
6.  The extent to which the surface water buffer serves as wildlife habitat or travel 

corridor. 
7.  The rate, timing and volume of stormwater runoff and its potential to influence water 

quality associated with the affected surface water or any associated downstream 
surface waters.  

8.  The sensitivity of the surface water and the surface water buffer to disruption from 
changes in the grade or plant and animal habitat in the buffer zone. 

 
The CUP application narrative notes that the Ash Swamp Brook was part of the City 
Tax Ditch system in the past and is bordered by a number of commercial properties. 
The proposed area of encroachment is about 0.8 miles (~4,200 ft) from the point 
where it joins the Ashuelot River. According to the wetland report, the wetlands on 
the site are classified as Riverine, Lower Perennial, uconsolidated bottom, sand 
(R2UB2) and are located along the bank of the brook. The underlying soils are very 
fine-fine sandy flood plain soils and are well drained; however, there may be some 
areas of the site that have been altered in the past which may have slower drainage 
rates. 
 
The Applicant notes that the site has been designed to preserve the ecological and 
hydrological functions of the brook with the proposed drainage/infiltration system 
and compensatory flood storage area, which will be allowed to return to a natural 
state after it has been constructed.  
 
Per Section 11.6.3.A of the LDC, the Surface Water Protection CUP Application has 
been referred to the Conservation Commission and will be reviewed at their meeting 
on November 15. Staff will share any recommendations from the Conservation 
Commission at the Planning Board meeting.   

 
20.12 Hazardous or Toxic Materials: There are no known hazardous or toxic materials 

present on the site. This standard is not applicable. 
 

Page 31 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 
20.13 Noise: In the project narrative, the Applicant notes that the noise generated by the 

site is expected to be similar to the noise generated by the surrounding businesses, 
which are all commercial.  

 
20.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The Applicant proposes to renovate the two 

existing buildings on the site for use as a climate-controlled self storage facility and 
a U-Haul truck rental business. In addition, a new building is proposed to the east 
of the existing buildings that would be used as a warehouse to store U-Box mobile 
storage units. This new building is proposed to be 12,175 square feet and 
approximately 32 feet tall, as shown in the renderings and elevations attached to 
this staff report. This is about 10 feet higher than the existing buildings on the site. 
 
The design of the proposed climate controlled self-storage facility building appears 
to be based on the corporate aesthetic for U-Haul, including bright orange colors, 
metal siding, and feaux architectural features such as fake storage unit doors facing 
Winchester Street and Krif Road which appear to be intended for the sole purpose 
of advertising the business (see Figure 4 for a rendering of the proposed Winchester 
Street elevation). The current elevation facing Winchester Street is a one-story brick 
façade with windows.  

  
 Section 2.C of this standard states “Architectural features shall not serve primarily 

as an advertisement, commercial display, or identifying characteristics 
corresponding to corporate identity.”  In addition, section 2.G of this standard states 
that “Exterior materials, textures, and colors shall minimize visual aggressiveness 
and shall harmonize with the City’s distinctive architectural identify and unique 
character.”  The Board should ask the Applicant how the proposed building design 
meets these standards.  

 

Figure 4. Image of the proposed rendering for the Winchester Street facade. The Applicant 
proposes to replace the windows and brick exterior with metal siding with bright orange, feaux self-
storage doors that match the corporate U-Haul aesthetic. 

 
 

Page 32 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 
Recommended Motion:  
Staff recommend that the Board continue the public hearing for SPR-897 Modification #1 
to the December 20, 2021 Planning Board meeting.  

Page 33 of 89



Page 34 of 89



Page 35 of 89



Page 36 of 89



Page 37 of 89



Page 38 of 89



Page 39 of 89



Page 40 of 89



Page 41 of 89



Page 42 of 89



Page 43 of 89



Page 44 of 89



Page 45 of 89



Page 46 of 89



Page 47 of 89



Page 48 of 89



Page 49 of 89



Page 50 of 89



September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 51 of 89



September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 52 of 89



SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

Scale: 1" = 20'
WEST ELEVATION

Scale: 1" = 20'
EAST ELEVATION

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 53 of 89



Scale: 1" = 20'
WEST ELEVATION

Scale: 1" = 20'
EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 54 of 89



ATAS
"ASCOT WHITE"

WEST ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

SW 6451
"NURTURE GREEN"

ATAS 
WOODLAND SERIES

"WALNUT"

SW 6451
"NURTURE GREEN"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

EXISTING

EXISTING

SW 7638
"JOGGING PATH"

ATAS
"SANDSTONE"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

SW 6767
"AQUARIUM"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

SW 7638
"JOGGING PATH"

ATAS
"SANDSTONE"

SW 6767
"AQUARIUM"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

ATAS
"ASCOT WHITE"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 55 of 89



MBCI
"UHAUL GREEN"

EAST ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

EXISTING
SW 7638

"JOGGING PATH"
EXISTING

EXISTING

ATAS
"ASCOT WHITE"

SW 6451
"NURTURE GREEN"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

SW 7638
"JOGGING PATH"

SW 7638
"JOGGING PATH"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

SW 7070
"SITE WHITE"

SW 7656
"RHINESTONE"

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 56 of 89



Scale: 1" = 20'
WEST ELEVATION

Scale: 1" = 20'
EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

ATAS
"BONE WHITE"

ATAS
"REGAL WHITE"

ATAS
"SANDSTONE"

SW 6451
"NURTURE GREEN"

SW 6767
"AQUARIUM" SW 7638

"JOGGING PATH"

ATAS
"REGAL WHITE"

ATAS
"BONE WHITE"

SW 7638
"JOGGING PATH" ATAS

"REGAL WHITE"

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 57 of 89



VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL
MODULATION IN THE BUILDING

CHANGE IN MATERIALS TO PROVIDE
ARTICULATION TO THE ELEVATION

ARTISTIC USE OF MATERIALS

PROMINENT
ENTRY FEATURE

VERTICAL MODULATION EXTENDING
THE PARAPET ABOVE THE ROOFLINE

WEST ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

CHANGE IN MATERIALS TO PROVIDE
ARTICULATION TO THE ELEVATION

COMMUNITY LIFESYLE TO PROMOTE A
SAFE AND WELCOMING ENVIRONMENT

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 58 of 89



EAST ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

CHANGE IN MATERIALS TO PROVIDE
VISUAL SEPARATION TO THE FACADE

PROJECTION CREATES ARCHITECTURAL
INTEREST ABOVE CUSTOMER STORAGE AREA

AND PROVIDES PROTECTION FROM THE ELEMENTS.VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL
MODULATION IN THE BUILDING

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 59 of 89



FAUX WINDOW DECALS ON 
ALUMINUM TO PROVIDE 

FENESTRATION & RETAIL APPEARANCE

Scale: 1" = 20'
WEST ELEVATION

Scale: 1" = 20'
EAST ELEVATION

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1" = 20'

ARTISTIC USE OF MATERIALS

CHANGE IN MATERIALS TO PROVIDE
ARTICULATION TO THE ELEVATION

September 27, 2021

MOVING & STORAGE OF SOUTH KEENE
472 Winchester St. Keene, NH 03431

Conceptual renderings are subject to change and should not be implemented.

Page 60 of 89



Page 61 of 89



Page 62 of 89



Page 63 of 89



Page 64 of 89



Page 65 of 89



Page 66 of 89



Page 67 of 89



Page 68 of 89



Page 69 of 89



Page 70 of 89



Page 71 of 89



Page 72 of 89



Page 73 of 89



Page 74 of 89



Page 75 of 89



Page 76 of 89



Page 77 of 89



Page 78 of 89



Page 79 of 89



Page 80 of 89



Page 81 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

SPR-972 MODIFICATION #7 – SITE PLAN REVIEW – COLONY MILL LANDSCAPING 
210-222 WEST STREET 

 
Request: 
Applicant and owner Brady Sullivan Keene Properties LLC proposes to modify the landscaping 
for the new retail building on the property located at 210-222 West St (TMP# 576-009-000), 
including the removal of existing trees along Island St. The site is 6.49 acres and is located in the 
Commerce District. 
 
Background: 
The 6.49-acre parcel at 210-222 West Street is situated on the southeast corner of West Street 
and Island Street and is located in the Commerce District. There are three existing historic 
buildings on the site, including the Colony Mill Apartment Building/Elm City Brewery Restaurant, 
the Casino, and NBT Bank.  
 
In August 2020, the Planning Board granted approval for the construction of a 4,875 square foot 
multi-tenant retail and office building in the southeast portion of the site with two drive through 
windows and associated site improvements (SPR-972 Modification #6). At the time, staff 
requested that the Applicant place the building closer to Island Street in order to meet the Board’s 
standard which requires all parking to be to the side or rear of the building.  However, the Applicant 
chose to locate the building further back from the road to allow for two drive-throughs and parking 
in front of the building. Therefore, when the Planning Board originally approved this plan, the 
Applicant proposed to maintain the existing buffer of trees along Island Street and extend that 
buffer further to the south by installing seven new trees. This buffer was intended to screen the 
parking and drive-through lane located between the building and Island Street. Construction on 
the new retail building began in the Spring of 2021.  
 

 
Figure 1. Google street view image of the existing trees on Island Street that are proposed to be removed (circled in 

yellow). 

The current request is to modify the landscaping for the new retail building as follows:  
 Along Island Street, remove 8 existing crabapple trees and 4 proposed crabapple trees 

(12 trees total) and replace with three Armstrong red maple trees and a mixture of 62 
shrubs and 88 perennials. 

 Within the parking lot island directly to the north of the new retail building, replace four 
crabapple trees that were removed during construction with three Little Leaf Linden trees, 
6 shrubs, and 26 perennials. 

 Within the landscape island located to the northeast of the new building, remove 1 existing 
crabapple tree and replace in-kind with a new crabapple tree. 

Page 82 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

Completeness: 
The Applicant has submitted existing and proposed landscaping plans. Staff recommend that the 
Board accept the application as “complete.”  
 
Departmental Comments: 
There were no departmental comments on this application.  
 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application.  
 
20.5  Landscaping: The applicant proposes to modify the existing landscape plan for the new 

retail building as described in the “Background” section of this staff report, resulting in a 
decrease in the overall number of trees by 11 and an increase in the number of shrubs 
and perennials by 68 and 104, respectively. The proposed new plant species include 
Armstrong red maple, Little Leaf Linden, wintercreeper, sweet summer hydrangea, dwarf 
globe blue spruce, “PJM” Rhododendron, spreading yew, dwarf fountain grass, and 
reblooming daylily. None of these plants appear on the NH list of invasive species, and 
they are all hardy to regional climate conditions per the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s 
Plant Hardiness Zone Map.  

 
20.6  Screening: Sub-section 2.E of this standard states “Parking lots shall be designed and 

screened in accordance with Article 9 of this LDC.” Article 9 includes parking lot screening 
standards for both perimeter and interior parking lot landscaping. The intent of these 
standards is to screen parking areas from view from the public right-of-way and any 
adjacent residential zoning districts. Specifically, the perimeter screening standards 
require one shade tree for every 30 feet of perimeter parking lot landscape area and one 
evergreen shrub for every 3 feet of perimenter area length, among other requirements. 
However, the Planning Board may approve an alternate design for screening of parking 
lots from public rights-of-way as part of a site plan review, if they determine the proposed 
design generally meets the intent of the parking lot screening standards listed in Article 9.  

  
 The perimeter landscape area for the parking associated with the new retail building is 

approximately 230 feet long (see Figure 2). As proposed, the trees within the perimeter 
landscape area are spaced between 60 ft to 30 ft apart. A mix of 63 shrubs is proposed 
along the perimeter landscape area, or about one shrub for every 3 linear feet of perimeter 
landscape area. These shrubs vary from 2 ft-8 ft in height at maturity.  

 

Page 83 of 89



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for a 
motion: 

Approve SPR-972, Modification #7 for modifications to landscaping, as presented in the plan 
identified as “Landscape Plan, Multi-Tenant Use, 0 Island Street” prepared by Fuss & O’Neill 
at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet, dated June 17, 2021 and last revised November 2, 2021 with 
the following conditions prior to signature by Planning Board Chair: 

1. Landscape Architecht’s stamp appears on plan. 
2. Owner’s signature appears on plan.  

Figure 2. Image of the proposed Landscaping Plan with the perimenter landscape area indicated in 
red. 

Page 84 of 89



Page 85 of 89



The Gateway Building
50 Commercial Street

Manchester, NH
03101

t 603.668.8223
800.286.2469

www.fando.com

California

Connecticut

Maine

Massachusetts

New Hampshire

Rhode Island

Vermont

October 13, 2021

Tara Kessler
Senior Planner
Keene Community Development Department
3 Washington Street
Keene, New Hampshire 03431

Re: Brady Sullivan Properties
0 Island Street, Keene, NH
Fuss & O’Neill Reference No. 20191323.A10

Dear Tara:

The purpose of this Site Plan application is to modify the approved landscape plan for the
Brady Sullivan Properties development at 0 Island Street in Keene, New Hampshire.  The
following narrative describes the proposed changes to the originally Approved Landscape Plan
and the Revised Landscape Plan.

Approved Landscape Plan
The originally approved landscape plan intended to retain 9 existing trees along Island Street, 4
existing trees within the landscaped island to the north of the proposed building and 4 existing trees
within the island to the east of the island north of the proposed building. These existing trees are
highlighted in green on the attached Figure 1 plan.  Additionally, the approved landscape plan
proposed 5 new trees along Island Street, highlighted in blue on the same Figure 1 plan.

This application requests that all trees highlighted in green and blue, be removed or eliminated from
the approved design and replaced with new trees or plantings as shown on the revised Landscape
Plan attached and described below.

Revised Landscape Plan
The proposed landscape plan replaces the 9 existing and 5 new trees along Island Street with one
Prairie Fire Crabapple tree, in the southwest corner of the property, and a mix of 150 plantings along
Island Street.  The mix of plantings include,

 15 Dwarf Globe Blue Spruce
 15 Winter Creeper
 10 Sweet Summer Hydrangea
 52 Reblooming Daylily
 9 PJM Rhododendron
 6 Spreading Yew
 36 Dwarf Fountain Grass

Page 86 of 89



Tara Kessler
October 13, 2021
Page 2 of 2

F:\P2019\1323\A10\Civil\Documents\20211013 LTR SPA Narrative Lspe Changes.Docx

The revised landscape plan also replaces the four existing trees within the landscape island to the
north of the proposed building with,

 2 Little Leaf Linden trees,
 26 Dwarf Fountain Grass and
 9 Coral Knock Out Rose.

For the island to the east of the island north of the proposed building, one Prairie Fire Crabapple
was added to replace the existing tree that was removed.

The general intent of the landscape revisions is to provide visibility along Island Street of the new
commercial building and eliminate the trip hazard from dropped apples along the new sidewalk.  The
revised landscape plan provides robust plantings with additional trees for shade within the landscape
island.

The applicant, Brady Sullivan Properties is happy to answer any question you may have.

Very truly yours,

Amy R. Sanders
Senior Project Engineer

ARS:ars

Enclosures

cc w/ enclosures via email:  Brady Sullivan Properties - Benjamin Kelley and Marissa Urquhart

Page 87 of 89



PROJ. No.:
DATE:

D
AT

E
N

o.
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
D

ES
IG

N
ER

R
EV

IE
W

ER

SC
AL

E:

D
AT

U
M

: VE
R

T.
:

H
O

R
Z.

:

VE
R

T.
:

H
O

R
Z.

:

M
S 

VI
EW

: 
LA

YE
R

 S
TA

TE
:  

Fi
le

 P
at

h:
 J

:\D
W

G
\P

20
19

\1
32

3\
A1

0\
C

iv
il\

Pl
an

\2
01

91
32

3A
10

_L
N

D
01

.d
w

g 
 L

ay
ou

t: 
LP

-1
01

 L
AN

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

  P
lo

tte
d:

 T
hu

, A
ug

us
t 2

0,
 2

02
0 

- 6
:5

0 
AM

   
U

se
r: 

as
an

de
rs

Pl
ot

te
r: 

D
W

G
 T

O
 P

D
F.

PC
3 

  C
TB

 F
ile

: F
O

.S
TB

20191323.A10
6/17/2020Y

B
R

A
D

Y
 S

U
LL

IV
A

N
 P

R
O

PE
R

TI
ES

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 P
LA

N

M
U

LT
I-

TE
N

A
N

T 
U

SE
0 

IS
LA

N
D

 S
TR

EE
T

K
EE

N
E

N
EW

 H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E

1"
 =

 2
0'

50
 C

O
M

M
E

RC
IA

L 
ST

RE
E

T
M

A
N

CH
E

ST
E

R,
 N

E
W

 H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E
 0

31
01

60
3.

66
8.

82
23

w
w

w
.fa

nd
o.

co
m

 

  

REMOVE 8 EXISTING TREES
(REPLACE WITH PLANTINGS SEE

REV. LANDSCAPE PLAN)

REMOVE 4 EXISTING TREES
(REPLACE WITH PLANTINGS AND

TREES, SEE REV. LANDSCAPE

REMOVE 5 PROPOSED TREES
(REPLACE WITH PLANTINGS SEE

REV. LANDSCAPE PLAN)

REMOVE 2 EXISTING TREES
(REPLACE WITH TREES, SEE REV.

LANDSCAPE PLAN)

ORIGINALLY
APPROVED

LANDSCAPE PLAN

Page 88 of 89



PROJ. No.:
DATE:

D
AT

E
N

o.
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
D

ES
IG

N
ER

R
EV

IE
W

ER

SC
AL

E:

D
AT

U
M

: VE
R

T.
:

H
O

R
Z.

:

VE
R

T.
:

H
O

R
Z.

:

M
S 

VI
EW

: 
LA

YE
R

 S
TA

TE
:  

Fi
le

 P
at

h:
 J

:\D
W

G
\P

20
19

\1
32

3\
A1

0\
C

iv
il\

Pl
an

\2
01

91
32

3A
10

_L
N

D
01

.d
w

g 
 L

ay
ou

t: 
LP

-1
01

 L
AN

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

  P
lo

tte
d:

 T
ue

, N
ov

em
be

r 0
2,

 2
02

1 
- 1

:5
4 

PM
   

U
se

r: 
ja

lla
rd

Pl
ot

te
r: 

D
W

G
 T

O
 P

D
F.

PC
3 

  C
TB

 F
ile

: F
O

.S
TB

20191323.A10
6/17/2021

B
R

A
D

Y
 S

U
LL

IV
A

N
 P

R
O

PE
R

TI
ES

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 P
LA

N

M
U

LT
I-

TE
N

A
N

T 
U

SE
0 

IS
LA

N
D

 S
TR

EE
T

K
EE

N
E

N
EW

 H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E

1"
 =

 2
0'

50
 C

O
M

M
E

RC
IA

L 
ST

RE
E

T
M

A
N

CH
E

ST
E

R,
 N

E
W

 H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E
 0

31
01

60
3.

66
8.

82
23

w
w

w
.fa

nd
o.

co
m

 

  

Page 89 of 89


	2021_11_22_pb_agenda
	2021_10_25_PB_Minutes_MF Edits
	SPR-16-14, Mod. 7_Packet
	Staff Report
	Application_Received 11-08-21
	Site Plan_Received 11-08-21_REDUCED
	Cut Fill Summary_Received 11-08-21

	SPR-897, Mod. 1_Packet
	Application
	Narrative and Development Standards_REVISED_11-8-21
	Street Access Exception Request_11-8-21
	Plan Set_REVISED_Received 11-08-21_REDUCED
	Color rederings and elevations_10-20-21
	CUP Application&Narrative
	SWCUP_SIGNED APP
	WETLAND REPORT_STAMPED

	CUP Plans_10-29-21_REDUCED
	Miller Bldgs self-storage_10-15-21
	Stormwater Report_10-15-21

	Colony Mill packet
	Staff Report
	SPR-972, Mod. 7_Packet_NO SR
	Application_10-15-21
	Narrative_10-15-21
	Existing Landscape Plan_Highlighted Changes_10-15-21_REDUCED
	Proposed Landscape Plan_REVISED_Received 11-09-21_REDUCED





